1979

Cliff Prince, Dba Prince Construction Company v.
R. C. Tolman Construction Company, Inc v.
Western Surety Company, Inc. v. Genevieve A.
Prince : Brief of Appellant R. C. Tolman
Construction Company

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of the case are basically set forth in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the court (R-151 through R-154). R. C. Tolman Construction Company, Inc., defendant and appellant, and hereinafter called "Tolman" was awarded a contract for construction of roads and other facilities for the United States Forest Service near Fishlake. Tolman subsequently, by a written subcontract agreement subcontracted (R-49 through 52, R-84 through 87) eleven specific bid items of work to Prince Construction Company, plaintiff and respondent, and hereinafter called "Prince." Prince performed part of the subcontract items but by late summer or early fall of 1973 Prince had not performed three of the contract items. Tolman took over these contract items and completed the work. It was not until sometime later after the contract work had been completed that the parties became aware of a problem with payment under the contract and a dispute arose.

There are several matters which are not disputed. First, there is no dispute that the subcontract agreement is the document governing the relationship between the parties. Secondly, the court found that Tolman gave actual notice of taking over the work from Prince. There is also no question that Tolman, in fact, took over the work and it was Tolman who completed each of the three remaining contract items. The court was called on to determine the proper measure and method of compensation to both parties. The court applied the doctrine of

quantum meruit in arriving at the amounts to be awarded each party. The detail of the courts award of compensation will be detailed hereinafter. Basically, the court determined the value of the three subcontract items since those are the ones in dispute and subtracted from the subcontract net value the cost of Tolman's work to complete the work along with some offsets and awarded the remaining balance of \$18,386.34 to Prince (R-156).

It is from the procedure used by the court in applying the doctrine of quantum meruit to the fact situation that Tolman appeals. The facts show that Tolman had an unbalanced bid for the three contract items in question in that Tolman had misunderstood the contract and entered a bid in excess of its costs to do the work. Appellant contends that the three contract items generated the excess fund for the amount of the judgment so that when the court applied its version of quantum meruit the court simply credited Tolman for the cost of the work done to complete the subcontract agreement and gave the remaining value of \$18,386.24 to Prince by way of Judgment. Tolman contends that the excess amount of \$18,386.34 in the three contract items should have been awarded by the court to Tolman instead of to Prince.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter came before the court for trial in two parts. The first trial before the court was on the issue of liability. The issue of damage was heard by the court some months later. The court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

November 30, 1978. The court awarded Prince the sum of \$18,386.34.

RELIEF SOUGHT BY THIS APPEAL

Tolman asks this court to either reverse the judgment of the District Court and award the \$18,386.34 to Tolman or to remand the case back to the District Court with instructions that the court is to correctly apply quantum meruit such that the award of \$18,386.34 be made to Tolman who performed the work on the three remaining contract items and not to Prince who did not do the work on the three remaining contract items.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prince and Tolman entered into a subcontract agreement dated October 7, 1972 relating to certain road building and related construction work connected with a contract Tolman received from the Forest Service titled United States Forest Service Fish Lake Sanitation Project. (R151). Prince started work in the fall of 1972 on the \$73,521.48 subcontract which had 90 calendar days for completion on eleven separate bid items. (R49 through 52, R84 through 87) (Exhibit A). Prince worked for eleven days during 1972 (tr page 14 line 5) and returned to the project in July of 1973 (tr page 15 line 19). Prince testified that there were three contract items he could not do in July of 1973 to wit: 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2 (tr page 25 line 2224). Prince continued to work on the other 7 items of work. The final item was for crushed aggregate and could not be done until items 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2 the hauling and roadway borrow was done. Prince did not have the equipment to do the three items and was arranging with a Mr. Wirthlin to do

the remaining work. (tr p. 28-30). When the time had gone past the 90 days set forth in the contract sometime in October, Tolman told Prince he would do the borrow, the overhaul and the second overhaul on items 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2. (tr 25 line 26 etc.) Tolman thereafter did all of the work on the items listed above (tr 37 line 29 to page 38 line 11) (tr 39 line 27 etc.) (tr 40 line 1-6 etc.). Thereafter, Prince was paid for the work he completed on seven of the items but was not paid on the three items listed of 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2 because Tolman did that work along with some others. Prince was paid \$48,160.19 by Tolman (tr page 42 line 18-22). A dispute arose between the parties as to how such Prince should be paid and a settlement of differences attempted (tr p. 43). Subsequent to the dispute arising Prince testified that he expected the total subcontract price for the overhaul and borrow items even though he didn't physical do the work and he was asking for the full bid price based on the contract. (tr 45 line 16-28). When Prince was asked about the provisions in the contract that any assignments of portions the work had to be approved by Tolman, Prince said that he knew that and Wirthlin knew it and the change was never request or permission to subcontract to anyone else given (tr 82 etc.). It was also clear that without subcontracting the work to someone else, Prince had no capability to complete items 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2. (tr 82 etc.). The most Prince had was a "verbal agreement" subsequently denied by Tolman that he had "subcontracted the three items back to Tolman. (tr p. 91). The testimony was clear that Prince never told Wirthlin to come and do the work on the three items (tr 102 line 27-30 p. 103 line 1-12).

Tolman then testified that he did items 2222-1, the road barrow; 2230-1, the roadway haul; and 2230-2, the roadway haul; and contracted to a third party item 2240-1, the crushed aggregate (tr 134,135,). Tolman told Prince in "the latter part of September that he would have to step in and do these things," meaning the 3 above listed items (tr 136 line 18-30, page 137 line 1 to 5) but gave the notice verbally and not in writing. At the time the verbal notice was given, Prince continued doing other things and Tolman completed the three items. (tr 142 - etc.) Tolman stated his reason for pressing Prince to complete the work and ultimately to take over the work was pressure from the Forest Service Engineer. (tr 142- line 26) Tolman testified the work for 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2 was scheduled to be done by June of 1973. (tr 162 line 4 - line 23) so that the asphalt could be in place in 1973. (tr 162 line 24-30 . Tolman testified that there was some urgency to put the asphalt on because of the fuel shortage and scarcity of petroleum products (tr 163 line 1-16). The engineer informed him he as lagging and he went to Prince to see if the work could be hurried along (tr 164). Thereafter Prince did no work on the three items (tr 165). Tolman had no agreement with Prince to do Prince's haul work (tr 168 line 18-23). The work took four weeks (tr 169 line 9) and the asphalt was not placed in 1973 (tr 169 line 16-24). So that the work scheduled for 1973 went through the winter to be completed in 1974. Prince was invited to return to the job in 1974 to complete his items but did not return (tr 169,170).. The court stated after the

testimony that "with regard to plaintiff's claim, that he entered into a subcontract with Mr. Tolman to haul what has been referred to as borrow, the court would find that claim is not supported by the evidence. Mr. Prince, the court understands your testimony was that you were entering into a subcontract for Mr. Tolman to haul this material... but the court cannot find that to be a contract, because your evidence does not support the requirements of a contract, which would be a meeting of the minds or evidence that Mr. Tolman also understood that to be the contract. When an attempt is made to alter the terms of a written contract by an oral contract, there is a substantial burden placed upon the party making the claim of an oral contract. This court cannot find that the parties made that agreement. The court would find that Mr. Tolman did in fact take over the hauling and will find that he gave no written notice as provided by the contract. This leaves Mr. Tolman somewhat vulnerable as to his position ... (tr 189 line 18-30, 190 line 1-7).

The court went on in TR 190 to find there was evidence to support an agreement for Tolman to do the hauling and that no time restrictions were violated such that there would be a breach of contract. (tr 191).

The court found no evidence of manipulation on the part of Mr. Tolman to get out of a part of the contract where he saw a loss and hold onto the part where he was a gain (TR 192 line 2-6). The court very importantly found the contract to be divisible (TR 192 line 7-8). The court found that "the form

items were taken over by Mr. Tolman and he is entitled to payment for taking over these items. And, at this point, the court is inclined to feel that it should be on the basis of quantum meruit (TR 192-11-14). The court also found that Prince had actual notice from Tolman that the work would be taken over. (Tr 192 line 26-30).

With the evidence as to liability before the court and the court committed to the concept of quantum meruit, the trial proceeded to the second phase of damages wherein the court found that Tolman had received payments of the three items as follows:

a. Item No. 2222-1 Barrow Road	\$13,630.00
b. Item No. 2230-1 Overhaul Road	20,454.00
c. Item No. 2230-2 Overhaul Road	<u>17,965.00</u>
Total Paid	\$52,049.00

Less adjustments for additional work over and above the contract amount	<u>15,269.00</u>
---	------------------

Net Payment on three items	\$39,586.00
----------------------------	-------------

The court then allowed offsets for the cost of work done on the three items by Tolman of

15,269.67

Sub Balance	\$24,316.33
-------------	-------------

and the court allowed other adjustments and offsets of:

5,929.99

Final Balance	\$18,386.34
---------------	-------------

The \$18,386.34 which represents payment of the subcontract price to Tolman by the Forest Service less the cost of Tolman's work and other offsets left a balance which the court awarded

to Prince despite the fact that Prince did not do the work of the three items which generated the fund of money the judgment ultimately was taken from.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN THE WAY IT APPLIED THE DOCTRINE OF QUANTUM MERUIT TO THE FACT SITUATION.

The subcontract sets forth the basic quantum meruit doctrine in paragraph 2. It is important that the court follow the subcontract provisions or the well established rules which surround the concept of quantum meruit.

Paragraph 2 of the subcontract agreement designated as "Prosecution of Work, Delays, Commencement and Completion of Work, etc." clearly sets for the circumstances whereby the contractor may take back the work and what the compensation to the contractor will be as follows:

"any costs incurred by the contractor in doing any portion of the work...shall be charged against any monies due under the terms of this agreement, and in the event the total amount due or to become due under the terms of this agreement shall be insufficient to cover the costs accrued by the contractor in completing the work, then the subcontractor...shall be...liable unto the contractor for the difference."

Appellant submits that the contract provision is nothing more than a restatement of the general principles of contract law in such a situation. Appellant also submits that the court followed the provisions of paragraph 2 in that it gave Tolman credit for the actual cost of the work done. But, appellant submits most strongly that the court failed to correctly apply the doctrine of quantum meruit to the portion of the subcontract agreement which represented the excess amount of money after Tolman was paid for the work he did. The excess amount was

because of an error in bidding which gave Tolman more money than it cost to do the work. The court was correct in giving Tolman credit for the actual work he did, but erred when it awarded what amounts to a balance of the subcontract price on the three items to Prince.

Restatement of the Law of Contracts, Section 246: Corbin on Contracts, Section 1089 says with emphasis added, states:

"When a contractor [Prince in this case] fails to perform a construction contract, the owner [Tolman in this case] is entitled to complete the work or have it completed by a third party. The contractor [Prince] is then liable for the costs incurred in such completion decreased by the amount of the contract price for the work which the owner [Tolman] then does not have to pay the contractor.

Implicit in both the restatement and the subcontract provision is the concept that if the contract costs more to complete than was bid, the subcontractor must pay for the difference. However, our situation is unusual because the subcontract, after paying Tolman for the work done, still has \$18,386.34 which is in excess of the work Tolman did, plus other adjustments. Counsel submits that the law is that when the work is taken back and actually done by the contractor that the one who does the work is entitled to what value is remaining in the subcontract.

There is no question that Prince did any of the work so the calculations under the subcontract provision and the restatement are very simple to calculate. There is simply no credit given to Prince for the work since he didn't do any. All of the cost should go to Tolman. That is what happened in this case except that the court did not address itself to the remaining

of the cost of the subcontract. The court erred

in awarding the balance of the subcontract which did not represent work done to Prince. The court should have awarded the \$18,386.34 which represents remaining money in the subcontract because of an unbalanced bid to Tolman.

In Judge Swan's order entered at R122, the court says, "The court outlines the Findings of Fact and further finds that the four items were taken over by Mr. Tolman and he is entitled to payment for taking over those items. At this point the court is inclined to feel that it should be on a quantum meruit basis." Appellant agrees that by applying quantum meruit, the court is correctly following the intent of the Restatement of Law and the subcontract provision of the subcontract agreement. Appellant agrees that the court did, in fact, apply quantum meruit to the point of crediting Tolman for the work he did. However, appellant disagrees with the court in awarding the balance remaining in the subcontract to Prince because that conclusion does not follow if the court had properly applied the doctrine of quantum meruit. Had the court applied quantum meruit as it indicated in the transcript and the rules the court would have awarded the remainder of the money in the subcontract agreement to Tolman.

The following agreement is in support of the concept that the Judge should have awarded the remaining monies in the contract to Tolman. Language from the Oklahoma Supreme Court summarizes this situation very well:

"It is an elementary principle of the law of contracts that in order to recover upon a contract, the contractor... must first establish his own performance or a valid excuse for his failure to perform. Since plaintiff failed... to complete the work he contracted to do, without valid excuse for such failure, he was entitled to no judgment against defendant." Miller v. Young, 197 Okl. 503,

That language was quoted with approval as the law in this State in Lowe v. Rosenlof, 12 Utah 2d 190, 364 p.2d 418 (1961).

"A party generally cannot rec ver without showing full performance of his part [of the contract]. Any right of recovery as a result of part performance is on a quantum meruit. [There may be recovery] where only part performance has been rendered if such partial performance was accepted by, or was of benefit to the other party "Ardoin v. Royden" S.W. 2d (Tex. Civ. App. 1959); Lowe v. Rosenlof, Supra.

Prince cannot show performance for any of the \$18,386.34. The court has ruled that Tolman took over the work and completed it. Under the doctrine of quantum meruit there is no justification for Prince to receive any more for the work he did than what he received. He did none of the work, therefore, he should have received no money for that work done by Tolman.

Certainly there is no prejudice to Prince if he receives quantum meruit for what he did. There is no question that Prince was paid for what he did. He received over \$48,000 for work done. The question is who gets the remaining \$18,386.34 in the contract. Prince was paid for what he did and Tolman was paid for what he did and because of the unbalanced nature of the bid, there is still \$18,386.34 remaining. By rules of quantum meruit, appellant submits the court erred because Prince did nothing by way of performance to warrant any award to him of any more than what he did. By requiring Tolman to show what work was required to complete the contract and reducing the amount in the subcontract by that amount is simply the reverse of having Prince show what he did and reducing it for the subcontract amount the amount of \$18,386.34 would remain.

It should be remembered that quantum meruit which is the doctrine of the court applied, is not a contractual doctrine but an equitable doctrine designed to equitably and fairly achieve a balanced result in a case. By only partially applying the doctrine of quantum meruit, the court has achieved a result that is unfair and unjust to Tolman who did the work and unjustly enriching to Prince who under the judgment, will be paid for what he did but did not do.

The quantum meruit basis of recovery is equitable in nature and is not predicated on the contract.

Under such circumstances, where benefits have accrued to the owner by reason of material furnished or labor performed by the contractor, equity will sometimes require the owner to account for the reasonable value of the benefits received, not because the contractor who has breached his contract has any right to rely thereon, but because it would be inequitable for the owner to receive and retain something for nothing at the expense of the contractor. United States Pipe & Foundry Co. v. City of Waco, 100 S.W. 2d 1099 (Tex. Civ. App. 1936).

Thus, plaintiff must show it would be inequitable for Tolman to retain the benefits, if any, from the four items in question before plaintiff can recover on quantum meruit. Some courts have said that plaintiff must show unjust enrichment of defendant before a quantum meruit recovery will be allowed. Nelson v. Hazel, 433 p.2d 120 (Id. 1967).

Prince contends that he should be paid at the contract price for the four items in question. Tolman submits that under the rules of law discussed above, such payment would not be proper. Prince did not earn payment at the contract price by full performance of the items nor did he establish a valid excuse

for his failure to perform. His maximum recovery on those items is thus limited to quantum meruit. Since Prince did nothing on the contract items plaintiff would not be paid for those items.

Tolman submits that the case should be remanded back to the court to apply the doctrine of quantum meruit fairly for both parties. The court only partially applied the doctrine relying on a mixture of adherence to the contract yet applying an equisale doctrine of quantum meruit.

Except for the extra \$18,386.34 which neither party did any work to receive, the court applied the doctrine of quantum meruit. However, it is unjust and unfair to award the \$18,386.34 to Prince simply because the money was the remainder after Tolman was paid for his work.

POINT II

THE COURT IN ITS CALCULATIONS APPLIED QUANTUM MERUIT TO CREDIT TOLMAN FOR WORK ACTUALLY DONE BUT FAILED TO APPLY QUANTUM MERUIT TO THE REMAINING BALANCE OF \$18,386.34.

If the findings of fact are not disputed so that there are no questions of fact remaining, it is obvious that the court's logic in applying quantum meruit is exactly reversed from what should have been. The court had Tolman calculate the value of what he did on the subcontract, but did not require Prince to do the same thing. Had the court required Prince to calculate what he did on the project, the court could have then easily calculated which party receives what part of the contract. If the court paid Tolman for what he did and if the court paid Prince for what he did the court would still have roughly \$18,000 left in the contract

to distribute. If the court then applied the normal rules of quantum meruit since Prince did not complete the work nor perform on the items of work then the court would have awarded the \$18,000 to Tolman because he is the original contractor. When Prince did not do the work the subcontract was taken over by Tolman and Prince was paid for what he did.

It is interesting to note how consistent the numbers would be if the court had reversed the situation so that the proof of the numbers would be on Prince. The contract price roughly \$87,000 with no adjustments. Prince was paid roughly \$48,000 on the items which he did. ($\$87,000$ less $\$48,000 = \$39,000$) Then you reduce the amount Tolman got credit for of roughly \$15,000 for the work done on the three contract items. ($\$39,000$ less $\$14,000 = \$24,000$) Then reduce again by the roughly \$6,000 Tolman got credit for in the offsets for work the next year in 1974, etc. ($\$24,000$ less $\$6,000 = \$18,000$) The \$18,000 roughly corresponds to the Judgment amount of \$18,386.34 which the court awarded to Prince because it was what was left in the subcontract agreement.

What this shows is that either way the court applies quantum meruit to pay both the parties their share of work actually causes around \$18,000 to remain in the subcontract agreement. Appellant submits that it is clear that the \$18,000 is simply an excess amount after deducting for work actually done by both parties and the balance of \$18,000 would roughly remain in the subcontract agreement using either approach.

Thus the real question is one of which party should get the excess \$18,000.

POINT III

THE COURT IN FINDING THE CONTRACT DIVISIBLE SHOULD HAVE AWARDED THE EXCESS AMOUNT OF THE SUBCONTRACT AGREEMENT LESS APPROPRIATE PAYMENTS TO THOSE WHO DID THE WORK TO TOLMAN WHO ACTUALLY PERFORMED THE WORK OF THE THREE CONTRACT ITEMS WHICH ACTUALLY CREATED THE EXCESS AMOUNT.

The court found that the "items of the subcontract agreement were divisible." This is important because of the area in which the \$18,386.34 judgment comes from. The court found that Tolman took over the work on three specific items and was paid by the Forest Service with adjustments for additional work the sum of \$39,000.00 as follows:

a. Item No. 2222-1 Borrow Road	\$13,630.00
b. Item No. 2230-1 Overhaul Road	20,454.00
c. Item No. 2230-2 Overhaul Road	<u>17,965.00</u>
Total Paid	\$52,049.00
Less adjustments for additional work	<u>15,269.00</u>
Net Paid	\$39,586.00

The court then allowed offsets for the cost of work done and some other adjustments as follows:

Net paid on three items	\$39,586.00
Less cost of work done by Tolman	<u>15,269.67</u>
	\$24,316.33
Less Offsets	<u>5,929.99</u>
Total Judgment	\$18,386.34

The judgment is basically the amount of money left in the contract after both parties have been paid for the work that they did. The court is then left with a judgment for \$18, 386.34 which simply is the excess of the contract price over the cost of the work.

It is important that the contract is divisible because the basic fund of money that caused the surplus in the first place arises from the three items of work which Tolman took over and performed. If quantum meruit is applied or if the contract provision number 2 is applied, the surplus amount of \$18,386.34 should go to Tolman.

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