1979

Cliff Prince, Dba Prince Construction Company v.
R. C. Tolman Construction Company, Inc v.
Western Surety Company, Inc. v. Genevieve A.
Prince : Answering Brief of Respondent Cliff
Prince, Dba Prince Construction Company

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

(Preliminary Statement)

The legal arguments set out in the three points of TOLMAN's brief are based upon erroneous factual premises. Each point assumes the validity of TOLMAN's factual claims at trial manifestly ignoring the findings of fact made and entered by the trial court.

It is difficult for Respondent PRINCE to know, based upon the Brief of Appellant TOLMAN, the issues from which TOLMAN appeals. TOLMAN conceded in his Brief that the facts are as found by the trial court and entered in the trial court's findings. Appellant TOLMAN claims that he appeals only the application of quantum meruit to the case and evidently disputes the measure of damages applied by the trial court. Despite those statements, TOLMAN sets out facts and arguments which have little or nothing to do with the theory of liability or the measure of damages applied by the trial court. In order to put the case in perspective and to align the issues it is necessary for Respondent PRINCE to set out the basic theory of liability upon which the Court awarded judgment in favor of PRINCE.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND AN ORAL
AGREEMENT BETWEEN PRINCE AND TOLMAN

(Oral Agreement Between PRINCE and TOLMAN)

Prior to August of 1973, the written subcontract between PRINCE and TOLMAN provided that PRINCE would perform the work under items 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2. Those three items were critical to PRINCE since, as he testified at trial^{7/} they were "loaded items" bearing significant profit which offset losses on other contract items. PRINCE had experienced some delay caused by TOLMAN in performing the three items. Believing that the equipment he had on the job site would be occupied in the lagoon area, PRINCE made the arrangement with Don Wirthlin to supply the trucks and operators necessary to make the haul under the three items. PRINCE went to TOLMAN and explained his arrangements with Wirthlin to make the haul. TOLMAN agreed at that time that he would make the haul at a price equal to or less than that of Wirthlin.

At that time, PRINCE and TOLMAN entered into an oral agreement which modified the written subcontract. TOLMAN agreed to perform the work under those items and in so doing stepped into the shoes of Wirthlin, with respect to his relationship with PRINCE. Effectively, TOLMAN became PRINCE subcontractor.

^{7/} R.225-227.

At the time of trial, Defendant TOLMAN suggested that the oral agreement, if made, was barred by the provisions of paragraph 10 of the subcontract which stated that the terms of the subcontract could only be changed or modified by a written agreement and that written consent to assign or further subcontract was required under paragraph 6 of the subcontract. This Court, however, in a number of decisions has held that parties to a written contract may orally change or modify the terms of the written contract.^{8/} As this Court stated in Davis v. Payne and Day, Inc., 10 Ut.2d 53, 348 P.2d 337, 339 (1960):

It is a well-established rule of law that parties to a written contract may modify, waive, or make new terms notwithstanding terms in the contract designed to hamper such freedom.

Favorably citing Davis v. Payne and Day, Inc., this Court in PLC Landscape Const. v. Piccadilly Fish 'N Chips, Inc., 502 P.2d 562 (1972) stated:

. . . there is nothing so sacrosanct about having entered into one agreement that it will prevent the parties entering into any such change, modification,

8/ Wilson v. Gardner, 10 Ut.2d 89, 348 P.2d 931 (1960); Salzner v. Jos. J. Snell Estate Corp., 81 Ut. 111, 16 P.2d 923 (1973). See also, Kenison v. Baldwin, 351 P.2d 307 (Okla. 1960); Canada v. Allstate Insurance Company, 411 F.2d 517 (5th Cir. 1969).

extension or addition to their arrangement for doing business with each other that they may mutually agree. PLC at 563.

The court below found that PRINCE and TOLMAN entered into an oral agreement which modified the subcontract agreement. TOLMAN was to perform the work under items 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2 and charge \$3.00 per cubic yard against the price due PRINCE under the contract. PRINCE performed under the subcontract and was entitled to receive its benefits. TOLMAN, as prime contractor, collected the sums due under the three items but refused to disburse to PRINCE in accordance with the subcontract thereby breaching the agreement.

(Promissory Estoppel)

The trial court also made findings and entered conclusions of law bearing on the issue of promissory estoppel. While the court found that an agreement had been reached between PRINCE and TOLMAN relating to the three items, the court also found that the strict elements of a contract need not be met in order to entitle PRINCE to judgment.

The court found that TOLMAN promised PRINCE that he would perform the work under the three items at a cost equal to that of the Wirthlin bid. That promise was made by TOLMAN with the reasonable expectation that PRINCE would forbear. In justifiable reliance on TOLMAN's promise, PRINCE did forbear, not only by terminating the arrangements with Wirthlin but by taking no action himself. After making the promise, TOLMAN

performed the work under the items, collected payment as the general contractor from the Forest Service and refused to pay PRINCE under the agreements.

The trial court held that TOLMAN was estopped to deny the existence and enforceability of the oral agreement with PRINCE and his relationship as PRINCE's subcontractor. In so holding, the court relied upon a number of decisions in this court applying the doctrine of promissory estoppel.^{9/} The basis of the application of the doctrine is set out in Section 90 of the American Law Institute's Restatement of Contracts which has been cited with approval by this court.^{10/}

Section 90 of the Restatement provides as follows:

PROMISE REASONABLY INDUCING
DEFINITE AND SUBSTANTIAL
ACTION.

A promise which the promisor should reasonably expect to induce action or forbearance of a definite and substantial character on the part of the promisee and which does induce such action or forbearance is binding if injustice can be avoided only by enforcement of the promise.

The trial court found in favor of PRINCE on each of the elements necessary under Restatement 90 to assert promissory estoppel. TOLMAN made a promise reasonably expecting to induce forbearance of a substantial character; PRINCE reasonably

9/ J. P. Koch Inc. v. J. C. Penney Co., Inc., 534 P.2d 903 (1975); Baggs v. Anderson, 528 P.2d 141 (1974); Kelly v. Richards, 83 P.2d 731 (1938).

10/ Baggs v. Anderson, Id. at 143 n. 5.

relied, forbearing on the performance to his detriment; and to avoid injustice the court enforced TOLMAN's promise.

Articulating the principle contained in Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 336, this Court in J. P. Koch Inc. v. J. C. Penney Co., Inc., 508 F.2d 1001, 81-1 USTC ¶13,000, 52 AFTR2d 81-5711 (CA-10, 1981), fn. 9, stated:

The invocation of estoppel does not necessarily involve any contract or agreement between the parties, consequently, the elements of a contract are not involved and there is no requirement of consideration. It is a doctrine of equity to prevent one party from deluding or inducing another into a position where he will unjustly suffer loss. As applicable here, the test is whether there is conduct, by act or omission, by which one party knowingly leads another party, reasonably acting thereon, to take some course of action, which will result in his detriment or damage if the first party is permitted to repudiate or deny his conduct or representation.

This Court's analysis in Koch that the doctrine of promissory estoppel can be invoked without regard to the limitations imposed by traditional contract law has also been followed in other jurisdictions.^{11/}

Thus, the trial court made a two-prong finding. It found, first, that a contract did exist between PRINCE and TOLMAN under which TOLMAN was to perform the haul as PRINCE's subcontractor, and, secondly, that in any case, TOLMAN, by

^{11/} See, Janke Const. Co., Inc. v. Vulcan, 527 F.2d 772 (9th Cir. 1976); Hoffman v. Red Owl Stores Inc., 133 N.W.2d 267 (Wis. 1965).

virtue of his conduct, was estopped to deny the existence of the agreement with PRINCE and that it was not in writing in compliance with paragraphs 2 and 6 of the subcontract agreement. The trial court, having found that TOLMAN was liable to PRINCE under the oral agreement, then considered the award due PRINCE by virtue of TOLMAN's breach.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT PRINCE

Points II and III of TOLMAN's Brief appear to address the issue of the measure of damages utilized by the trial court in awarding judgment to PRINCE. Since the two points are so substantially related and since they both are based upon the same erroneous premise, Respondent PRINCE will treat both points concurrently.

(Computation of Damages by Trial Court)

The trial court, having once found that TOLMAN breached the oral agreement with PRINCE, awarded judgment to PRINCE in the sum of \$24,316.33, less certain offsets, which reduced the judgment to approximately \$18,000. At trial, Respondent PRINCE urged that the measure of damages should be as stated by the court in Keller v. Deseret Mortuary Company^{12/} "that the non-breaching party should receive an award which will put him in

^{12/} 23 Ut.2d 1, 455 P.2d 197, 198 (1969).

as good a position as he would have been in had there been a breach". That is, Respondent urged the trial court to award the contract price to PRINCE less the \$3.00 per cubic yard agreed to by TOLMAN.^{13/} The trial court, however, declined to hold TOLMAN to the \$3.00 per cubic yard price. Rather, the trial court awarded PRINCE the subcontract price on the three items less TOLMAN's actual cost of performance of those items.

Additionally, the trial court refused to award PRINCE increases in those quantities above the original estimates. Thus, the trial court found that the contract price to which PRINCE was entitled was the sum of \$39,586, the aggregate of items 2222-1, 2230-1 and 2230-2. The court then subtracted from that figure the sum of \$15,269 which TOLMAN testified was his actual cost in performing the three items. The remainder yielded the sum of \$24,316.33. Consistent with the subcontract agreement, the court reduced the \$24,316.33 by 10%, the general contractor's share. The court also allowed offsets in favor of TOLMAN, on other items, the total of which, including the 10% reduction, equalled \$5,929.99. That figure when subtracted from the \$24,316.33 resulted in the final judgment of \$18,386.34 awarded to PRINCE.

^{13/} Additionally, PRINCE proffered testimony, which was excluded by the trial court, demonstrating consequential damages in view of the breach by TOLMAN. The court found those damages to be unforeseeable by the parties.

(Measure of Damages)

The trial court applied the generally accepted measure of damages in a contract case. That is, it awarded to PRINCE the sum to which he was entitled -- the contract price. Indeed, for purposes of the relations of the parties, PRINCE's contract was performed and he was entitled to the contract price. Section 346(2) of the Restatement of Contracts states that rule:

(2) For a breach by one who has promised to pay for construction, if it is a partial breach the builder can get judgment for the instalment due, with interest; and if it is a total breach he can get judgment, with interest so far as permitted by the rules stated in §337, for either

(a) the entire contract price and compensation for unavoidable special harm that the defendant had reason to foresee when the contract was made, less instalments already paid and the cost of completion that the builder can reasonably save by not completing the work; or

* * *

This Court reiterated that rule in Holman v. Sorenson,

556 P.2d 499 (1976):

It is the undisputed law of this state and the general consensus of legal writers that breach of a construction contract damages are based upon the total amount promised for the project, less the reasonable cost of completing it.

While TOLMAN had promised to complete the three items for \$3.00 per cubic yard, he claimed his actual cost to be times that figure. TOLMAN has complained that the trial court utilized quantum meruit improperly. However, any error in that regard inured to the benefit of TOLMAN. That is, the trial court allowed TOLMAN's actual cost to be offset against the contract price, rather than holding him to his agreement at \$3.00 per cubic yard. The trial court's references to quantum meruit were strictly in an attempt to allow TOLMAN his actual costs.

(Appellant TOLMAN Urges the
Application of an Inapposite Rule)

TOLMAN's entire argument with respect to the assessment of damages is based on an erroneous factual predicate. TOLMAN, contrary to the findings entered by the trial court, assumed that TOLMAN, under paragraph 2 of the subcontract, took over the three items because of the default of PRINCE. The entire argument advanced in the brief flows from that proposition. The cases cited by Appellant have application to that circumstance. Had the trial court so found, the cases cited by TOLMAN would have colorable pertinence. They are, however, irrelevant.